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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 

SCIENTIFIC DRILLING 
INTERNATIONAL, INC. and APPLIED 
TECHNOLOGIES ASSOCIATES, INC., 

Plaintiffs and 
Counterclaim Defendants, 

v. 
GYRODATA CORPORATION, 

Defendant and 
Counterclaim Plaintiff. 

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:97-CV-3506

HON. LYNN N. HUGHES

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
 

 
DEFENDANT GYRODATA’S FIRST AMENDED ANSWER, 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES, AND COUNTERCLAIMS 
 

Defendant Gyrodata Incorporated (“Gyrodata”) respectfully submits this amended 

answer, these affirmative defenses, and these counterclaims to the complaint of 

Plaintiffs Scientific Drilling International, Inc. (“SDI”) and Applied Technologies 

Associates, Inc. (“ATA”) (collectively, “SDI”) against Gyrodata.  The following numbered 

paragraphs correspond to SDI’s complaint; however, anything in SDI’s complaint not 

expressly admitted is denied: 

1. Gyrodata is without information sufficient to form a belief about the state of 

ATA and SDI’s incorporation or ATA’s address; otherwise, Gyrodata admits the 

contents of paragraph 1 of the complaint. 

2. Gyrodata admits the contents of paragraph 2 of the complaint. 

3. Gyrodata maintains its headquarters and research, development, and 

manufacturing facilities in Houston.  The remainder of paragraph 3 of the complaint is a 

legal conclusion requiring no response. 
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4. Gyrodata admits it has been charged with infringement of the ’869, the 

’491, the ’533, the ’559, the ’405, and the ’336 patents, but denies that any infringement 

exists and denies that injunctive relief, damages, or attorney fees are warranted. 

5. Gyrodata admits that this action claims to be an action for patent 

infringement under the patent laws of the United States, and if so, this Court has 

jurisdiction.  Otherwise, Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 5 of the 

complaint. 

6. Gyrodata admits that venue is proper. 

7. Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 7.  Though this purports to 

be a patent action, Gyrodata believes SDI filed this lawsuit as a pretext to conduct 

improper discovery and an attempt to reduce Gyrodata’s economic success in the 

market. 

(a) Gyrodata admits that, on its face, U.S. Patent No. 4,199,869 (“the 

’869 patent”) purports to have issued on April 29, 1980, to ATA as the assignee 

of Van Steenwyk, and is entitled “Mapping Apparatus Employing Two Input Axis 

Gyroscopic Means.”  Gyrodata denies the patent was duly and legally issued. 

(b) Gyrodata admits that, on its face, U.S. Patent No. 4,433,491 (“the 

’491 patent”) purports to have issued on February 28, 1984, to ATA as assignee 

of Van Steenwyk, and is entitled “Azimuth Determination for Vector Sensor 

Tools.”  Gyrodata denies the patent was duly and legally issued. 

(c) Gyrodata admits that, on its face, United States Patent 

No. 4,471,533 (“the ’533 patent”) purports to have issued on September 18, 

1984, to ATA as the assignee of Van Steenwyk, and is entitled “Well Mapping 
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System and Method with Sensor Output Compensation.”  Gyrodata denies the 

patent was duly and legally issued. 

(d) Gyrodata admits that, on its face, United States Patent 

No. 4,593,559 (“the ’559 patent”) purports to have issued on June 10, 1986, to 

ATA as the assignee of Van Steenwyk, and is entitled “Apparatus and Method to 

Communicate Bidirectional Information in a Borehole.”  Gyrodata denies the 

patent was duly and legally issued. 

(e) Gyrodata admits that, on its face, United States Patent 

No. 4,611,405 (“the ’405 patent”) purports to have issued on September 16, 

1986, to ATA as the assignee of Van Steenwyk, and is entitled “High Speed Well 

Surveying.”  Gyrodata denies the patent was duly and legally issued. 

(f) Gyrodata admits that, on its face, United States Patent 

No. 4,909,336 (“the ’336 patent”) purports to have issued on September 29, 

1988, to Applied Navigation Devices as the assignee of David C. Brown and 

Fred L. Watson, and is entitled “Drill Steering in High Magnetic Interference 

Areas.”  Gyrodata denies the patent was duly and legally issued. 

8. Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 8. 

(a) Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 8(a).  Particularly, 

Gyrodata denies that the ’869 patent claims what SDI purports it to claim.  

Gyrodata denies that it makes or uses the apparatus as claimed in the ’869 

patent in the United States.  Gyrodata denies that it uses the method claimed in 

the ’869 patent in the United States. 

Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 3 of 45



    
DEFENDANT GYRODATA’S FIRST AMENDED ANSWER, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES, AND COUNTERCLAIMS — PAGE 4 

(b) Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 8(b).  Particularly, 

Gyrodata denies that the ’491 patent claims what SDI purports it to claim.  

Gyrodata denies that it uses the method claimed in the ’491 patent in the United 

States. 

(c) Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 8(c).  Particularly, 

Gyrodata denies that the ’533 patent claims what SDI purports it to claim.  

Gyrodata denies that it makes or uses the apparatus or method claimed in the 

’533 patent in the United States. 

(d) Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 8(d).  Particularly, 

Gyrodata denies that the ’559 patent claims what SDI purports it to claim.  

Gyrodata denies that it makes or uses the apparatus claimed in the ’559 patent in 

the United States. 

(e) Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 8(e).  Particularly, 

Gyrodata denies that the ’405 patent claims what SDI purports it to claim.  

Gyrodata denies that it uses the method claimed in the ’405 patent in the United 

States. 

(f) Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 8(f).  Particularly, 

Gyrodata denies that the ’336 patent claims what SDI purports it to claim.  

Gyrodata denies that it uses the method claimed in the ’336 patent in the United 

States. 

9. Gyrodata denies that it has infringed, much less willfully infringed, any of 

the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 patents. 

10. Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 10. 
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11. Gyrodata denies the allegations of paragraph 11. 

12. The rest of the complaint is a prayer, for which no particular response is 

required.  Gyrodata does, however, deny that ATA and SDI are entitled to any of the 

relief they seek.  Gyrodata also denies that ATA and SDI are entitled to any injunctive 

relief or that any of the requirements of injunctive relief have been met here. 

AMENDED AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

First Affirmative Defense:  Noninfringement 

13. Gyrodata does not infringe and has not infringed, either directly or 

indirectly, does not and has not contributed to infringement, and does not and has not 

induced the infringement of any valid claim of the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, the 

’405, or the ’336 patents. 

Second Affirmative Defense:  Estoppel 

14. All claims in the complaint are barred by the equitable doctrine of 

estoppel. 

Third Affirmative Defense:  Laches 

15. All claims in the complaint are barred by the equitable doctrine of laches.  

All damages, if any, occurring more than six years before the filing of this suit are 

barred, as are any claims of injunctive relief. 

Fourth Affirmative Defense:  Prosecution History Estoppel 

16. ATA and SDI are estopped from construing the claims of the ’869, the 

’491, the ’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 patents in a way that would cover any of 

Gyrodata’s products or processes by reasons of statements made to the United States 

Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) during the prosecution of the applications that 

led to the issuance of those patents. 
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Fifth Affirmative Defense:  Patent Invalidity 

17. The claims of the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 

patents are invalid for failure to comply with the requirements of Sections 102, 103, and 

112 of Title 35 of the United States Code. 

Sixth Affirmative Defense:  Prior Sale or Public Use 

18. All claims in the complaint are barred by the doctrine of prior sale or public 

use under Title 35 of the United States Code, Section 102(b). 

Seventh Affirmative Defense:  Doctrine of Reverse Equivalents 

19. Gyrodata has not infringed any of the claims of the ’869, the ’491, the 

’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 patents under the doctrine of reverse equivalents, 

even if the claims of any of these patents literally read upon some of the accused 

products because Gyrodata’s products have so changed that they are not the same as 

the claimed inventions of these patents. 

Eighth Affirmative Defense:  Unenforceability 

20. Gyrodata cannot be liable for any infringement of the ’869, the ’491, the 

’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 patents because each of these patents is 

unenforceable due to inequitable conduct. 

(a) The ’869 patent.  The ’869 patent is unenforceable under the 

doctrine of inequitable conduct.  On information and belief, during an interference 

declared by the Board of Patent Interferences and Appeals on or about 

November 18, 1982, one of the named inventors, Donald Van Steenwyk, and/or 

others substantively involved in prosecuting the interference, including ATA’s 

patent attorney William Haefliger and his associates, misrepresented the 

conception and/or reduction to practice dates for the invention claimed by the 
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’869 patent with the intent to deceive the USPTO.  This misrepresentation was 

material because conception and/or reduction to practice are issues that were 

critical to priority in the interference proceeding.  If SDI had lost the interference 

proceeding, SDI would have lost its rights to the ’869 patent because that patent 

would no longer have been valid.  SDI made a material misrepresentation with 

the intent to deceive the USPTO, and this intent is evidenced by inconsistent 

dates of conception and reduction to practice SDI has given to the USPTO on the 

one hand and to Gyrodata in this litigation on the other hand. 

(b) The ’491 patent.  The ’491 patent is unenforceable under the 

doctrine of inequitable conduct.  Upon information and belief, ATA named 

inventors Paul W. Ott, Harold J. Engebretson, Phillip M. LaHue, and/or Brett H. 

Van Steenwyk, with possible assistance from ATA’s patent counsel, 

William Haefliger, withheld from the USPTO evidence of the September 1979 

sale of the invention of claim 1 of the ’491 patent years before SDI’s attempt to 

patent it.  This sale was to Eastman Whipstock and/or others and occurred more 

than one year before SDI filed the application that led to the issuance of the ’491 

patent.  Each of the inventors and their counsel were involved in the provision of 

data to Eastman Whipstock and were thus fully aware of the sale.  Each was 

under a duty to disclose the prior sale to the examiner during his examination of 

the ’491 patent.  Evidence of this sale and the offer(s) for sale preceding the sale 

was material information because this is information a reasonable examiner 

would consider important in deciding whether to issue the ’491 patent.  SDI 
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withheld any mention of the sale, and associated offers for sale, with the intent to 

deceive the USPTO into granting the ’491 patent. 

(c) The ’559 patent.  The ’559 patent is unenforceable under the 

doctrine of inequitable conduct.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Harold 

Engebretson concealed from the USPTO material prior art from September 1982, 

including, among other things, a technical paper published by Sandia National 

Laboratories that described Sandia’s Wellbore Inertial Navigational System 

(“WINS”).  On September 8, 1982, a group of engineers from Sandia National 

Laboratories filed an application for a patent disclosing a WINS.  That application 

eventually issued as U.S. Patent No. 4,987,684 (“the ’684 patent”).  Also in 

September 1982, Sandia held a seminar presenting a paper on WINS.  ATA 

employee Paul Ott attended the presentation and took copies of the Sandia 

papers back to ATA.  Ott gave these papers to ATA employee/consultant 

Hal Engebretson, who read the Sandia paper within a few months of that 

presentation.  Three years later, on March 7, 1985, Engebretson and ATA co-

inventors David Brown and Fred Watson filed a patent application that later 

issued as the ’559 patent.  Claim 1 of the ’559 patent describes a bi-directional 

communication system that is substantially the same as the one in the WINS.  

None of the inventors nor their counsel, William Haefliger, disclosed the Sandia 

paper or the ’684 patent.  These items of prior art were material because they 

disclosed the same limitations of claim 1 of the ’559 patent that the examiner 

considered to be not shown by prior art of record.  ATA could not have made 

arguments propounded to the USPTO during the prosecution of the ’559 patent if 
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the Sandia paper had been disclosed to the examiner.  ATA concealed this 

material prior art with the intent to deceive the USPTO into issuing the ’559 

patent. 

(d) The ’405 patent.  The ’405 patent is unenforceable under the 

doctrine of inequitable conduct.  On information and belief, ATA inventor Donald 

Van Steenwyk withheld from the USPTO evidence of sales of the claimed 

invention of the ’405 patent on February 4, 1983, and July 15, 1983.  Both sales 

were to Eastman Whipstock and/or others and occurred more than one year 

before the ’405 patent’s  filing date of July 30, 1984.  Donald Van Steenwyk and 

patent counsel William Haefliger were provided data regarding these sales to 

Eastman Whipstock and thus were fully aware of the sales.  Each was under a 

duty to disclose the prior sale to the examiner during his examination of the ’405 

patent.  Evidence of these sales and the preceding offer(s) for sale was material 

because a reasonable examiner would consider evidence of pre-critical date 

sales of the claimed invention important in deciding whether to issue the ’405 

patent.  SDI withheld information regarding the sale, and associated offers for 

sale, with the intent to deceive the USPTO into granting the ’405 patent. 

(e) The ’336 patent.  The ’336 patent is unenforceable under the 

doctrine of inequitable conduct.  During the prosecution of the application that 

issued as the ’336 patent, ATA employees and co-inventors David Brown and 

Fred Watson withheld another ATA patent, the ’533 patent, from the USPTO with 

the intent to deceive the examiner into allowing the ’336 patent.  The ’533 patent, 

which issued on September 18, 1984, was assigned to ATA.  Four years later, 
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Messrs. Brown and Watson filed the application for the ’336 patent, which was 

also assigned to ATA.  As a result of the assignment of both patents, ATA’s 

management, the inventors, and ATA’s patent counsel all were aware of the ’533 

patent during the prosecution of the application for the ’336 patent.  The 

inventors of the ’336 patent and their patent counsel all were required to disclose 

to the USPTO material prior art of which they were aware during the entire 

pendency of the application for the ’336 patent.  The ’533 patent discloses every 

limitation of claim 1 of the ’336 patent and therefore anticipates claim 1 of the 

’336 patent.  Anticipating prior art is per se material, yet ATA withheld from the 

examiner the prior art anticipatory ’533 patent.  Even if the ’533 patent does not 

fully anticipate the ’336 patent, the ’533 patent disclosed so many common 

limitations to claim 1 of the ’336 patent that a reasonable examiner would have 

considered the prior art ’533 patent important in determining whether the ’336 

patent was obvious in light of the ’533 patent.  ATA’s withholding of the ’533 

patent was intentional because ATA was aware of the prior art’s existence and 

also knew of its materiality.  For example, the withheld prior art ’533 patent 

discloses the same steering function for which ATA sought patent protection in 

the ’336 patent.  ATA’s withholding of the ’533 patent from the USPTO was with 

the intent to deceive the examiner into allowing the ’336 patent. 

(f) Best mode.  The ’491, the ’553, the ’559, the ’405, and the ’336 

patents are invalid under the doctrine of inequitable conduct.  On information and 

belief, as of 1978, ATA contemplated a best mode for the angular sensor in 

carrying out its inventions, including the inventions later claimed by these 
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patents.  When ATA inventors filed the applications for the ’533 patent (March 9, 

1981; inventors Donald Van Steenwyk, and Paul Ott), the ’491 patent 

(February 24, 1982; inventors Paul Ott, Harold Engebretson, Phillip LaHue, and 

Brett Van Steenwyk), the ’405 patent (July 30, 1984; inventor Donald Van 

Steenwyk), the ’559 patent (March 7, 1985; inventors David Brown, 

Harold Engebretson, and Fred Watson) and the ’336 patent (September 29, 

1988; inventors David Brown and Fred Watson), the applications did not disclose 

that ATA considered a certain type of sensor to be the best mode angular rate 

sensor.1  ATA and its inventors concealed ATA’s contemplated best mode from 

the USPTO with the intent to deceive.  Instead of disclosing its contemplated 

best mode, ATA listed various modes that were not operable in oilfield 

applications at the times ATA filed their applications.  The degree of specificity 

with which ATA disclosed the wrong types of angular rate sensors is evidence of 

ATA’s intent to deceive the USPTO and the public. 

Ninth Affirmative Defense:  Patent Misuse 

21. All claims in the complaint are barred by the doctrine of misuse of patent. 

Tenth Affirmative Defense:  Patent Expiration 

22. Gyrodata cannot be liable for any infringement that occurred after the 

expiration of any one of the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 

patents. 

                                            
1 The details regarding the specific types of sensors are not disclosed in this pleading pursuant to the 
Court’s January 31, 2000 Order Protecting Confidentiality.  Docket no. 59. 
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Eleventh Affirmative Defense:  Mitigation 

23. All claims in the complaint are barred, or limited, by the failure of the 

plaintiffs to mitigate their losses, if any. 

Twelfth Affirmative Defense:  Unclean Hands 

24. All equitable claims, including the claim for injunction, set forth in the 

complaint are barred by the equitable doctrine of unclean hands, as well as other 

equitable doctrines pled here. 

Thirteenth Affirmative Defense:  Standing 

25. Either SDI or ATA lack standing to bring the present action. 

GYRODATA’S COUNTERCLAIMS 

Defendant/Counterclaim-Plaintiff Gyrodata brings these counterclaims against 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim-Defendants SDI and ATA: 

The Parties 

26. Gyrodata Incorporated is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business at 1682 West Sam Houston Parkway North, Houston, Texas 77043. 

27. On information and belief, Plaintiff SDI is a Nevada corporation having 

corporate headquarters at 1100 Rankin Road, Houston, Texas 77073.  On information 

and belief, Plaintiff ATA is a California corporation with an office at 3025 Buena Vista 

Drive, Paso Robles, California 93446. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

28. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Gyrodata’s patent 

counterclaims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338, 2201, and 2202.  This Court has 

jurisdiction over Gyrodata’s trademark counterclaims brought under the Trademark 
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Laws of the United States, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051-1127.  Jurisdiction over the trademark 

counterclaims is pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1121 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

29. This Court has personal jurisdiction over SDI and ATA, at least because 

they filed their claims for patent infringement in this Court, to which Gyrodata has 

responded with these counterclaims. 

30. Venue is established by Gyrodata’s presence in this judicial district.  28 

U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1400.  These counterclaims do not require for their adjudication the 

presence of other parties of whom the Court cannot acquire jurisdiction. 

COUNT ONE:  DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

31. Gyrodata re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 

30 above as though fully set forth here.  This is meant to apply to all counterclaims. 

32. This is a counterclaim for a declaratory judgment under Title 28 of the 

United States Code, Sections 2001 and 2002, and the patent laws of the United States 

under Title 35 of the United States Code. 

33. An actual controversy exists between SDI and Gyrodata concerning the 

validity, enforceability, and infringement of the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, the 

’405, or the ’336 patents. 

34. Gyrodata seeks a declaratory judgment for the following: 

(a) That the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 

patents, and each and every claim thereof, are invalid for failure to comply with the 

requirements of Sections 102, 103, and 112 of Title 35 of the United States Code. 

(b) That all claims of the complaint are barred by the doctrine of prior 

sale or public use under Section 102(b) of Title 35 of the United States Code. 
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(c) That it has not infringed any of the claims of the ’869, the ’491, the 

’533, the ’559, the ’405, or the ’336 patent under the doctrine of reverse equivalents, 

even if the claims of any of these patents literally read upon some of the accused 

products because Gyrodata’s products have so changed that they are not the same as 

the claimed inventions of these patents. 

(d) That the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, the ’405, and the ’336 

patents are unenforceable due to plaintiffs’ inequitable conduct, as described in 

paragraphs 20(a)-(f) above, which Gyrodata incorporates hereinto by reference. 

(e) That it has not infringed any of the ’869, the ’491, the ’533, the ’559, 

the ’405, or the ’336 patents. 

COUNT TWO:  TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH EXISTING CONTRACT 

35. Gyrodata voluntarily dismissed this claim without prejudice June 29, 2001. 

COUNT THREE:  BUSINESS DEFAMATION 

36. Gyrodata voluntarily dismissed this claim without prejudice June 29, 2001. 

COUNT FOUR:  VIOLATION OF FOREIGN CORRUPT PRACTICES ACT 

37. Gyrodata voluntarily dismissed this claim without prejudice June 29, 2001. 

COUNT FIVE:  VIOLATION OF SHERMAN ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 2 

38. Gyrodata voluntarily dismissed this claim without prejudice June 29, 2001. 

COUNT SIX:  VIOLATION OF TEXAS FREE ENTERPRISE ACT 

39. Gyrodata voluntarily dismissed this claim without prejudice June 29, 2001. 

COUNT SEVEN:  PATENT INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 4,800,981 

40. The parties stipulated to dismissing this counterclaim with prejudice on 

November 7, 2007.  Docket no. 362. 
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COUNT EIGHT:  TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT 

41. This is an action for trademark infringement and unfair competition under 

the Trademark Act of 1946, as amended (The Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1051, et seq.).  

This claim arises from the unauthorized use of the trademark DROP GYRO in the 

Houston, Texas, area and throughout the United States, and in the advertising and sale 

of services in connection with the controlled directional drilling of oil wells. 

42. Since at least as early as September 1997, Gyrodata has offered services 

in connection with the controlled directional drilling of oil wells using the trademark 

DROP GYRO. 

43. Sometime during the year 2000, if not earlier, Counterclaim Defendants 

commenced using the trademark DROP GYRO for essentially the same services 

offered by Gyrodata. 

44. Gyrodata claims an interest in and right to exclusive use of the trademark 

DROP GYRO, and derivations of this trademark in the United States.  Thus Gyrodata, 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a), complains of Counterclaim Defendants SDI and/or 

ATA’s use of this trademark in their sale, offering for sale of services and/or uses in 

commerce of the words DROP GYRO, or any combination thereof.  The false 

designation of origin and/or false and misleading descriptions of fact are likely to cause 

confusion or deceive customers as to any affiliation, connection, or association 

Counterclaim Defendants have with Gyrodata.  These false designations also include 

any perceived origin, sponsorship or approval by Gyrodata of Counterclaim Defendants’ 

goods, services or/or commercial activities. 
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45. As a consequence of Counterclaim Defendants’ violation of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a) [Section 43(a) of The Lanham Act], Gyrodata is entitled to all of the relief set 

forth in 15 U.S.C. § 1117. 

46. Gyrodata seeks a permanent injunction against Counterclaim Defendants 

to enjoin them from any further violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act by acts as 

described herein and to be shown at trial. 

47. Gyrodata requests that Counterclaim Defendants be permanently enjoined 

from using the trademark DROP GYRO, or any confusingly similar word or phase, in 

connection with advertising and promotion, on product labels, in correspondence, as 

part of a web site, as a metatag, or in any other related commercial activity. 

48. Gyrodata seeks damages from Counterclaim Defendants to the full extent 

of the law for its losses due to Counterclaim Defendants’ violations of The Lanham Act. 

49. Gyrodata requests that the Court declare this case to be exceptional and 

award Gyrodata its attorney fees and costs in this action. 

50. Gyrodata seeks an award from the Court for pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest on all damages, at the maximum rate allowed by law in the State of 

Texas. 

COUNT NINE:  PATENT INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 5,821,414 

51. This is an action for patent infringement of United States Patent 

No. 5,821,414 (“the ’414 patent”), entitled “SURVEY APPARATUS AND METHODS 

FOR DIRECTIONAL WELLBORE WIRELINE SURVEYING,” that issued on October 13, 

1998, to Gary Uttecht, Eric Wright, James Brosnahan, Koen Noy, Han Wei and 

Greg Neubauer.  Each inventor is, or was, at the time of invention, an employee of 

Gyrodata and contractually committed to assign ownership of such patent to Gyrodata.  
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Gyrodata is the exclusive owner and holder of the ’414 patent.  A true and correct copy 

of the ’414 patent is attached as Exhibit “A.”  Counterclaim Defendants have infringed 

the ’414 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271 by making, selling, offering for sale, or using the 

patented invention within the United States during the term of the ’414 patent without 

authority to do so. 

52. In broad terms, the ’414 patent claims an apparatus and method for 

surveying wells comprising a gyroscope having a spin axis aligned with the instrument 

axis, and having two sensitive axes orthogonally related to the spin axis and to each 

other.  Attitude references of the wellbore, with regard to the first determined location, 

are then determined while the tool is continuously traversing through the wellbore. 

53. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendants have willfully 

infringed the ’414 patent and will continue to do so unless enjoined by the Court.  As a 

direct and proximate cause of Counterclaim Defendants’ infringement of the ’414 patent, 

Counterclaim Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer financial loss and damage.  

As a result of Counterclaim Defendants’ willful infringement of the ’414 patent, 

Counterclaim Defendants should be required to pay Counterclaim Plaintiff treble the 

amount of damages, as provided under 35 U.S.C. § 284, and reasonable attorney fees 

as provided under 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

COUNT TEN:  PATENT INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 5,806,195 

54. This is an action for patent infringement of United States Patent 

No. 5,806,195 (“the ’195 patent”), entitled “RATE GYRO WELLS SURVEY SYSTEM 

INCLUDING NULLING SYSTEM,” that issued on September 15, 1998, to Gary Uttecht, 

Eric Wright, James Brosnahan and Greg Neubauer.  Each inventor is, or was, at the 

time of invention, an employee of Gyrodata and contractually committed to assign 
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ownership of such patent to Gyrodata.  Gyrodata is the exclusive owner and holder of 

the ’195 patent.  A true and correct copy of the ’195 patent is attached as Exhibit “B.”  

Counterclaim Defendants have infringed the ’195 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271 by 

making, selling, offering to sell, or using the patented invention within the United States 

during the term of the ’195 patent without authority to do so. 

55. Broadly, the ’195 patent claims a method for well borehole survey 

involving a sonde supporting X and Y accelerometers, and X and Y sensors on a rate 

gyro having a Z axis aligned with the sonde.  On a slickline, or within a drill string, the 

sonde is used to measure four variables to enable well azimuth and inclination to be 

determined.  Measuring depth enables a survey to be made. 

56. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendants have willfully 

infringed the ’195 patent and will continue to do so unless enjoined by the Court.  As a 

direct and proximate cause of Counterclaim Defendants’ infringement of the ’195 patent, 

Counterclaim Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer financial loss and damage.  

As a result of Counterclaim Defendants’ willful infringement of the ’195 patent, 

Counterclaim Defendants should be required to pay Counterclaim Plaintiff treble the 

amount of damages, as provided under 35 U.S.C. § 284, and reasonable attorney fees 

as provided under 35 U.S.C. § 283. 

COUNT ELEVEN:  PATENT INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 5,657,547 

57. The parties stipulated to dismissing this counterclaim with prejudice on 

February 19, 2003.  Docket no. 155. 

Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 18 of 45



    
DEFENDANT GYRODATA’S FIRST AMENDED ANSWER, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES, AND COUNTERCLAIMS — PAGE 19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

58. Gyrodata asks this Court to enter judgment in its favor against SDI and 

ATA and grant the following relief: 

(a) The relief specified in each count above, 

(b) A declaration that Gyrodata has not infringed the claims of U.S. 

Patent Nos. 4,909,336; 4,611,405; 4,433,491; 4,471,533; 4,593,559; and 

4,199,869; 

(c) A declaration that the claims of U.S. Patent Nos. Nos. 4,909,336; 

4,611,405; 4,433,491; 4,471,533; 4,593,559; and 4,199,869 are invalid; 

(d) A finding that this case is an exceptional case and an award of 

attorneys’ fees and costs to Gyrodata pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285; and 

(e) Any and all other relief to which it may be justly entitled. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
        
Thomas M. Fulkerson 
State Bar No. 07513500 
Southern District I.D. No. 774 
700 Louisiana Street, Suite 4700 
Houston, Texas 77002-2773 
Email:  tfulkerson@tlotf.com 
Telephone:  713.654.5888 
Facsimile:  713.654.5801 
 
ATTORNEY-IN-CHARGE FOR DEFENDANT AND 
COUNTER-PLAINTIFF GYRODATA INCORPORATED 
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OF COUNSEL: 
 
Alan H. Gordon 
State Bar No. 08194500 
Southern District I.D. No. 3513 
ALAN H. GORDON & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
3262 Westheimer Road, Suite 405 
Houston, Texas 77098-1002 
E-mail:  Gordon@GordonIP.com 
Phone:  713.789.6200 
Fax:  713.789.6203 

Cheri Duncan 
State Bar No. 06210500 
Southern District I.D. No. 7829 
E-mail:  cduncan@tlotf.com 
Tammy J. Cirigliano 
State Bar No. 24045660 
Southern District I.D. No. 562006 
Email:  tcirigliano@tlotf.com 
Wesley G. Lotz 
State Bar No. 24046314 
Southern District ID No. 584646 
E-mail:  wlotz@tlotf.com 
THE LAW OFFICES OF TOM FULKERSON 
700 Louisiana Street, Suite 4700 
Houston, Texas 77002-2773 
Phone:  713.654.5800 
Fax:  713.654.5801 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that service of this document on opposing counsel, who are listed below 
and are Filing Users, will be accomplished automatically through Notice of Electronic 
Filing on December 3, 2007: 

William C. Slusser 
Keith Jaasma 
Michael Locklar 
Slusser Wilson & Partridge LLP 
Three Allen Center 
333 Clay Street, Suite 4720 
Houston, Texas 77002-4105 
 

        
Thomas M. Fulkerson 

GYR60.017 53000 

Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 20 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 21 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 22 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 23 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 24 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 25 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 26 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 27 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 28 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 29 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 30 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 31 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 32 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 33 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 34 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 35 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 36 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 37 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 38 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 39 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 40 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 41 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 42 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 43 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 44 of 45



Case 4:97-cv-03506     Document 435      Filed in TXSD on 07/25/2008     Page 45 of 45




